FILED August 31, 2015 Court of Appeals Division I

State of Washington

NO. 73062-2-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE
STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Respondent,
v.
ROY BELL, JR.,
Appellant.
ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY
The Honorable Bruce Heller, Judge
BRIEF OF APPELLANT
MARY T. SW

Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court violated appellant's right to a public trial.
- 2. The trial court erred in denying appellant's motion to suppress three recordings that violated the privacy act.
- 3. The trial court erred in allowing a police officer to give her opinion on an ultimate issue of fact for the jury.
- 4. Counsel was ineffective for failing to contemporaneously object to improper opinion testimony by a police officer.
 - 5. The trial court violated appellant's right to confrontation.
 - 6. The trial court erred in denying appellant's mistrial motion.
- 7. The jury instruction defining "prolonged period of time" constituted a judicial comment on the evidence.
- 8. The trial court erred in imposing an exceptional sentence based on RCW 9.94A.535(3)(h)(i).
 - 9. Cumulative error deprived appellant a fair trial.
- 10. The judgment and sentence erroneously indicates appellant was convicted and sentenced on a dismissed charge.
- 11. The trial court failed to indicate dismissal of a charge in the judgment and sentence.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- 1. The trial court heard a motion for a mistrial from defense counsel at an inaudible, unrecorded sidebar. Did this courtroom closure violate appellant's constitutional right to a public trial?
- 2. The trial court denied appellant's motion to suppress three recordings that did not include statements informing appellant of his constitutional rights or that he was being recorded. Does this violation of the privacy act require suppression of the recordings?
- 3. Was appellant's jury trial right violated when a police officer identified appellant's voice based solely on three recordings, all of which were played for the jury and the officer had no independent knowledge of appellant's voice?
- 4. Was counsel ineffective for failing to contemporaneously object to improper opinion testimony by a police officer?
- 5. Was appellant's Sixth Amendment right to confrontation violated when the trial court admitted out-of-court statements by a non-testifying witness in which she described past events, the suspect had fled, and police were present at the scene?
- 6 Numerous trial irregularities plagued appellant's trial. Did the trial court err in denying appellant's motion for a mistrial when these cumulative errors deprived him a fair trial?

- 7. An exceptional sentence based on a pattern of abuse requires the State to prove multiple incidents occurring over a prolonged period of time. Where the judge instructed the jury that "prolonged period of time" meant "more than a few weeks," was the State relieved of its burden to prove this element of the aggravating factor beyond a reasonable doubt?
 - 8. Did cumulative error deprive appellant a fair trial?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE¹

The State charged Roy Bell, Jr. with four counts of domestic violence felony violation of a no-contact order (VNCO) protecting Teigisti Gerense, occurring on December 25, 2013 (Count 1); February 10, 2014 (Count 2); March 15, 2014 (Count 3); and March 15-16, 2014 (Count 4). On Counts 1 and 3, the State alleged Bell violated the court order (a) by assaulting Gerense, (b) by conduct that was reckless and created substantial risk of death or serious physical injury to Gerense, or (c) by having two prior VNCO convictions. On Counts 2 and 4, the State alleged only that Bell had two prior VNCO convictions. The State alleged two aggravating factors on each count: (1) the offenses were part of an ongoing pattern of abuse occurring over a prolonged period of time and (2) the offenses were committed shortly after Bell was released from incarceration. CP 82-84.

Gerense did not testify at trial.

¹ Due to the length of this brief, many of the relevant facts are contained in their corresponding argument sections.

1. <u>Pretrial Proceedings</u>

The court held a CrR 3.5 hearing, at which police officers testified that on March 15, 2014, they responded to a 911 call from Gerense reporting Bell assaulted her. 3RP 21-22, 38.² Police arrested Bell inside Gerense's apartment and transported him to jail. 3RP 25-33, 48-49, 58. The entire encounter was recorded. 3RP 29-31, 43-58. Bell made several statements to police and to Gerense inside her apartment, captured on two recordings. 3RP 29-31; Ex. 6, 15. Bell was then placed in a patrol car and made continuous statements to police as he was transported to jail, captured on a third recording. 3RP 43-58; Ex. 16.

At no time was Bell advised of his Miranda³ rights. The police did not advise Bell he was being recorded until almost two minutes after their initial contact with him. 5RP 400; Ex. 6. Nor did they advise him he was being recorded as he was being transported to jail. 8RP 847-61. The State conceded Bell was in custody throughout the encounter. 3RP 63. The court nevertheless admitted the recordings, concluding "the statements were all

² This brief refers to the verbatim reports of proceedings as follows: 1RP – August 5, 2014; 2RP – October 2, 2014; 3RP – October 6, 2014; 4RP – October 7, 2014; 5RP – October 8, 2014; 6RP – October 9, 2014; 7RP – October 13, 2014; 8RP – October 14, 2014; 9RP – October 15, 2014; 10RP – October 16, 2014; 11RP – October 17, 2014; 12RP – October 20, 2014; 13RP – December 19, 2014; 14RP – January 9, 2015.

³ Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966).

made spontaneously by Mr. Bell and not in response to interrogation. And the court also finds that they were made voluntarily." 3RP 64-65.

Defense counsel then moved to suppress the recordings because they violated Washington's privacy act, chapter 9.73 RCW. 4RP 230-32. Counsel argued RCW 9.73.090(1)(b) required Bell, as an arrested person, to be advised of his Miranda rights on the recordings, to be advised he was being recorded from the outset, and to be advised he was being recorded once he was placed in the patrol car. 4RP 230-32; 5RP 303-13.

The trial court denied the motion, reasoning RCW 9.73.090(1)(b) applied only to custodial interrogations, so Bell did not need to be advised of his Miranda rights on the recording. 5RP 402-06. The court further concluded Bell did not need to be advised of the recording from the outset because there were exigent circumstances when police entered Gerense's apartment. 5RP 403-04. And, finally, the court concluded the statute did not require Bell to be "readvised" he was being recorded once he was placed in the police vehicle. 5RP 404-05.

The State also sought to admit several prior incidents between Bell and Gerense, including (1) a January 30, 2012 uncharged incident where police responded to a report of Bell assaulting Gerense; (2) a February 26, 2012 incident where Bell was convicted of misdemeanor VNCO and fourth degree assault of Gerense; and (3) a July 1, 2013 incident where Bell was

convicted of VNCO and allegedly assaulted Gerense and her brother. 3RP 170-73, 181; 12RP 1176. The trial court admitted the two prior convictions for VNCO because they were elements of the current offenses. 5RP 408-12. However, the court excluded the uncharged incident from January and the fourth degree assault conviction from February. 5RP 408-12. The court also instructed the State to redact references to Bell's criminal history and outstanding warrants in the various recordings. 7RP 618.

Finally, the State sought to admit three 911 calls Gerense made on December 25, 2013, February 10, 2014, and March 15, 2014. 3RP 81. Defense counsel argued all three recordings were inadmissible hearsay and violated the confrontation clause. 3RP 88-91, 99-100, 114-18, 137-41. The trial court admitted the calls from December 25 and March 15, but excluded the February 10 call as testimonial. 4RP 188-99. The State informed the court that without the February 10 call, the State would likely not be able to proceed on the VNCO charge for that date (Count 2). 4RP 203.

2. December 25, 2013 Incident

On December 25, 2013, the police received a 911 call in which a man's and woman's voice can be heard in the background. Ex. 19; 8R 926-31. The woman said things like, "I'm bleeding"; and "Leave me alone. Let me go." 8RP 926-27. The call disconnected and the 911 dispatcher called back. 8RP 929; Ex. 19. The woman answered and told the dispatcher, "He

just left"; "He went that way somewhere outside"; and then, "the officers are outside." 8RP 929; Ex. 19. The woman also said, "Yeah, (unintelligible) try to kill me, he told me." 8RP 930. The call ended when officers arrived at the woman's apartment. 8RP 931. Detective Nicole Freutal testified she believed the man's voice on the 911 call was Bell's. 8RP 942.

Officer Jason Tucker responded to Gerense's apartment. 7RP 636-39. He testified that another officer arrived first and saw a man running down the stairwell of the apartment building. 7RP 643. The man was around 5'8" tall, with a medium build. 7RP 650, 655-58. Tucker agreed Bell did not match this description, being 6'2" tall and thin. 7RP 655-59; Ex. 7.

The officers found Gerense "a little scared and a little worked up," with a somewhat swollen face and scrape marks on her neck. 6RP 643-44; 7RP 645. Tucker testified Gerense told the officers where the fleeing man might have gone, but they never located him. 7RP 646.

The State introduced a recording of the officers' interaction with Gerense, in which the police asked Gerense what's going on and she told them, "Well, he my baby's father. He came over for the holiday. He came here, was drinking and he's making up I'm cheating on him and (unintelligible)." 7RP 647-52; Ex. 1. The police asked Gerense if he hit her

⁴ This is counsel's transcription of the recording. The court reporter also transcribed the recording, but often wrote "unintelligible."

and she responded, "Yeah, yeah. Punching, kicking, saying you're going to die today." 7RP 652.

Following up on this, the State asked Tucker what Gerense told him during their contact. Tucker testified Gerense said, "it was my baby's daddy or we have a child together and that he beat me up, he punched, he kicked me, and that he took off and knows -- I asked if she knew where he might be going. She said he knows everyone around here." 7RP 653.

3. March 15, 2014 IncidentError! Bookmark not defined.

On March 15, 2014, Gerense made a nonemergency call to 911 to ask police to remove Bell, who was sleeping, from her apartment. 8RP 932-41. She told the 911 dispatcher, "I've been getting beat up and I just, I don't want to talk about it. Just like have him leave my premises." 8RP 933-34. She explained, "he hit me a few times and I don't want to go back in." 8RP 934. She also said Bell had been drinking and "needs detox or something." 8RP 937-38.

Multiple officers responded. 7RP 687-88. They found Bell inside Gerense's apartment and immediately arrested him for VNCO. 7RP 690-93, 713-15. Gerense had "kind of a bloody mark on the inside of her upper lip." 7RP 668-70.

The State played the three recordings from March 15 for the jury: the first of Bell's initial arrest inside Gerense's apartment, Ex. 6, 7RP 695-703;

the second of the initial arrest and the police walking Bell to the patrol car, at which time he urinated himself, Ex. 15, 8RP 838-47; and the third of Bell being transported to the precinct and then to jail, Ex. 16, 8RP 847-61. On the second recording, played during Officer Ian Walsh's testimony, an officer tells Bell, "You're under arrest at this point. You've got a couple warrants and you're violating an order." 7RP 700-01. An officer can also be heard saying, "go ahead and verify this warrant." 7RP 703.

At the end of the State's direct examination of Walsh, defense counsel informed the court he had a motion. 7RP 707. The court held an inaudible sidebar conference. 7RP 707. Defense counsel then proceeded with cross-examination of Walsh, followed by redirect and recross. 7RP 707-17. The court called for another sidebar and subsequently instructed the jury to disregard evidence from the recording that Bell "had a warrant out on him or words to that effect." 7RP 717.

The jury was then excused, and the parties and the court put the two sidebars on the record. 7RP 718-20. Defense counsel said at the first sidebar the court asked whether he was moving for a mistrial. 7RP 720. Counsel said yes and the court denied it. 7RP 720. Counsel informed the court that the recording included unredacted references to Bell's outstanding arrest warrants, violating the court's ruling to redact that information. 7RP 720-22.

The court agreed with counsel's recollection, adding: "The court noted in a sidebar that it wasn't inclined to grant the mistrial motion. In fact, it wouldn't grant it. Instead it would give a limiting instruction." 7RP 721. The court explained it held a second sidebar to ask whether defense counsel wanted a limiting instruction. 7RP 721. Defense counsel added:

I pointed out in the sidebar that the State was aware of the court's rulings in limine that no mention of warrant shall be made during the course of the trial in evidence and that did happen here, at least twice. It was pointed out by the State the defense (unintelligible) propose any redactions to that video and summarizing what I said, I said the burden was on the State because they were aware of the court's rulings.

7RP 722. The court reiterated its reason for denying the mistrial motion: "the court believes that the jury is going to follow the explicit instruction that the court gave and that that cures any prejudice that might have resulted from the inadvertent inclusion of the word warrant." 7RP 723.

4. March 15-16, 2014 Jail Calls

Sergeant Dean Owens testified regarding five jail calls that formed the basis of Count 3: March 15 at 7:13 p.m. (8RP 762-72), March 15 at 7:48 p.m. (8RP 773-85), March 15 at 8:22 p.m. (8RP 785-90), March 15 at 9:02 p.m. (8RP 791-99), and March 16 at 5:17 p.m. (8RP 800-03). These calls were all made to the same phone number. Ex. 13; 8RP 800-01.

Owens explained that King County Jail inmates are assigned a pin number for using the jail telephones. 8RP 746-47. He agreed it is common

practice for inmates to trade pin numbers. 8RP 805. The first four calls were not placed using any pin number. Ex. 13. Instead Owens could only testify to the fact that the calls were placed from inside the booking area, where Bell was being held. 8RP 750-59. There were other inmates in the booking area at the time. 8RP 807. Only the March 16 call was made using Bell's assigned pin number. 8RP 800-01; Ex. 13.

In the first call, a man asks a woman, "Why you do that shit?," explaining "I'm in jail" because of a "[n]o-contact order and all that bullshit." 8RP 764. The woman told the man, "You told me to open the door." 8RP 764. The conversation continued, with discussion of the man sitting "in jail for a minute" and needing money for phone calls. 8RP 767. The second, third, and fourth calls contained similar content. During the fifth call, the man told the woman, "Love you," to which she responded, "I love you too. I miss you." 8RP 801. The man said, "I don't know what happened. I don't even know why I'm in jail." 8RP 803.

5. Halftime Motions, Closing Argument, and Verdict

After the State rested, the court read the parties' stipulation to the jury: "The parties stipulate and agree that on December 25, 2013, March 15, 2014, and March 16, 2014, the defendant had twice been previously convicted for violating provisions of a court order protecting Teigisti Gerense, his ex-girlfriend and the mother of his child." 8RP 946.

Defense counsel then moved to dismiss Count 2, the February 10 incident, for insufficient evidence. 8RP 948. The State did not object and the court dismissed the charge. 8RP 948. The court also dismissed the "substantial risk of death or serious physical injury" alternative means for Count 3, the March 15 charge. 8RP 949-55. The State filed an amended information including only the three remaining charges: Count 1 on December 25, 2013; Count 2 on March 15, 2014; and Count 3 on March 15-16, 2014. CP 74-76; 8RP 958-59.

In closing, defense counsel emphasized the lack of evidence placing Bell at Gerense's apartment on December 25, 2013, particularly because the description of the man fleeing the apartment building did not match Bell. 9RP 1084-85. As for the two other charges, counsel argued Bell did not know about the no-contact order in place. 9RP 1084-88. For instance, Bell never indicated he knew about the no-contact order during the March 15 police recordings and he was confused as to the reason for his arrest that day. 9RP 1084-87.

During deliberations, the jury asked several questions, including: "In the process of being presented with a no contact order, does the court verbally explain and read the terms and conditions of said order?" CP 128. "We don't seem to have the DVD from in the police car on Dec 25th, which had audio as well—Exhibit 1? May we have it?" CP 130. "How long does

the jury deliberate if it cannot agree unanimously on one of the Counts?" CP 132. "Are we, as the jury, allowed to use evidence of the March 15, 2014 and March 16, 2014 counts in relation to the December 25, [2013] count?" CP 134. "The police report from the 12/25/2012 incident, which we believe is . . . Can we see exhibit 3 here?" CP 138.

After deliberating for nearly two days, the jury convicted Bell as charged. CP 77-80; Supp. CP__ (Sub. No. 61A, Clerk's Minutes).

6. Bifurcated Trial on Aggravating Factors

The parties then proceeded to a bifurcated jury trial on the two aggravating factors: prolonged pattern of abuse and rapid recidivism.

The State introduced evidence of the uncharged January 30, 2012 incident where police responded to a 911 call at Gerense's apartment. 12RP 1149-53, 1176-82. Bell was there and Gerense had minor injuries. 12RP 1181-82. The State also introduced evidence of Bell's conviction for fourth degree assault of Gerense on February 26, 2012. 12RP 1186-91. Finally, the State introduced evidence Bell pleaded guilty to misdemeanor VNCO based on a July 1, 2013 incident where officers found him at Gerense's apartment and she had injuries to her face. 12RP 1198-1207.

The court dismissed the rapid recidivism aggravator related to the March 15, 2014 incident and the March 15-16, 2014 jail calls. 12RP 1217-21. As to the December 25, 2013 incident, the State introduced evidence

that Bell was booked into jail on December 5, 2013 and released on December 10, 2013. 12RP 1232. The jury returned special verdict forms finding the pattern of abuse aggravator on all three counts and the rapid recidivism aggravator on Count 1. CP 113-15.

The trial court imposed an exceptional sentence of 70 months, 10 months above the standard range. CP 143-45. Bell appeals. CP 152.

C. ARGUMENT

1. CONSIDERING A MISTRIAL MOTION AT AN INAUDIBLE, UNRECORDED SIDEBAR CONSTITUTED A COURTROOM CLOSURE THAT VIOLATED BELL'S RIGHT TO A PUBLIC TRIAL.

The Sixth Amendment and article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution guarantee the accused a public trial by an impartial jury. Presley v. Georgia, 558 U.S. 209, 213, 130 S. Ct. 721, 175 L. Ed. 2d 675 (2010); State v. Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d 254, 261-62, 906 P.2d 629 (1995). Article I, section 10 of the Washington Constitution also provides that "[j]ustice in all cases shall be administered openly." This gives the press and public a right to open and accessible court proceedings. Seattle Times Co. v. Ishikawa, 97 Wn.2d 30, 36, 640 P.2d 716 (1982).

The right to a public trial is a core safeguard in our justice system. State v. Wise, 176 Wn.2d 1, 5, 288 P.3d 1113 (2012). The open and public judicial process helps ensure fair trials, deters perjury and other misconduct,

and tempers biases and undue partiality. <u>Id.</u> at 6. It is a check on the judicial system, provides for accountability and transparency, and assures that whatever transpires in court will not be secret or unscrutinized. <u>Id.</u>

A violation of the public trial right is structural error, presumed prejudicial, and not subject to harmless error analysis. <u>Id.</u> at 13-15. Whether the public trial right has been violated is a question of law reviewed de novo, and may be raised for the first time on appeal. <u>Id.</u> at 9.

a. Experience and logic demonstrate a motion for a mistrial should be heard in open court.

A trial court may restrict the public trial right only "under the most unusual circumstances." <u>Bone-Club</u>, 128 Wn.2d at 259. Before closing any part of trial, therefore, the court must apply the five <u>Bone-Club</u> factors on the record. <u>Id.</u> at 258-59. Courts employ a three-step test for determining whether the public trial right is violated: (1) whether the proceeding at issue implicated the public trial right under the experience and logic test; (2) whether the proceeding was closed; and (3) whether the closure was justified (i.e., did the court conduct a <u>Bone-Club</u> analysis on the record prior to

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