73062-2

73062-2

FILED December 10, 2015 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

NO. 73062-2-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

۷.

ROY BELL, JR.,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE BRUCE E. HELLER

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

> JENNIFER P. JOSEPH Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

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

Although there is inevitable overlap between subsections (1)(b) and (1)(c) where an individual is arrested by a uniformed officer

- 24 -

wearing a body microphone, it seems clear that the legislature contemplated subsection (1)(b) to apply to the formal taking of a recorded statement by an arrested person while in custody. That is evident from subsection (1)(b)'s requirement that a person first be advised of his or her <u>Miranda</u> rights – rights that do not apply outside the custodial interrogation context. <u>Miranda</u>, 384 U.S. at 478-79. Equally clear by the legislative history of subsection (1)(c) is that the recording of arrestees and others by cameras mounted in patrol cars is designed to protect the police and to monitor officers' conduct for the public's protection. The fact that an arrestee may volunteer a statement in a patrol car equipped with a video/sound camera does not render subsection (1)(c) inapposite.

b. Officers Complied With The Privacy Act.
If this Court agrees that subsection (1)(c), rather than (1)(b),
applies to the three recordings at issue, it follows that the trial court
correctly determined that the officers complied with the law.

Subsection (1)(c) does not require officers to advise the subject of his constitutional rights or to begin and end the recording with an indication of the time. It requires that the officer "inform any person being recorded by sound ... that a sound recording is being made and the statement so informing the person shall be included in the sound recording[.]" RCW 9.73.090(1)(c).

In this case, the officers informed Bell in the first recording that he was being recorded. 7RP 701; Ex. 6. Although Bell complains that the officer did not provide that information until nearly two minutes into the recording, nothing in RCW 9.73.090(1)(c) requires the warning to occur at any particular time. <u>Compare</u> RCW 9.73.090(1)(b)(ii), (iii) (requiring indication of time and warning of constitutional rights to appear "at the commencement of the recording"). Officers again warned Bell that he was being recorded as they escorted him to the patrol car in the second recording. 8RP 845.

Bell concedes that the police properly informed him that he was being recorded in the first two recordings. He argues that the third recording – taken while Bell was in the patrol car – should have been suppressed because the officers did not inform him for a third time once he was being "recorded by a different microphone and camera." BOA at 28. This argument should be rejected.

First, although Bell analyzes each recording separately, all three were part of a single continuing interaction between Bell and the officers. Indeed, the first and second recordings overlap substantially, with each capturing Bell's arrest. Our supreme court has treated successive interrogations as "one transaction" for purposes of assessing compliance with RCW 9.72.090, even when administered by two different officers and separated by about one minute. <u>State v. Rupe</u>, 101 Wn.2d 664, 684-85, 683 P.2d 571 (1984). In <u>Rupe</u>, because the first officer properly informed the defendant of his rights at the beginning of the first recording, it was unnecessary for the second officer to re-advise him during the second taped interview. <u>Id.</u> Here, officers properly informed Bell that he was being recorded twice – in the apartment and on the way to the patrol car – so it was unnecessary to advise him for a third time once he entered the patrol car.

Further, in <u>State v. Jones</u>, our supreme court held that no Privacy Act violation occurred even though a tape did not contain the required statement that a recording was being made. 95 Wn.2d 616, 628 P.2d 472 (1981). In coming to that conclusion, the court considered the circumstances surrounding the recording, including other references to taping the conversation and the fact that the tape recorder was visible to the defendant. <u>Id.</u> at 627. Since the circumstances indicated that the defendant knew that the

- 27 -

recording conformed to the statute. <u>Id. See also Rupe</u>, 101 Wn.2d at 681 (citing this analysis with approval). Here, the circumstances even more clearly demonstrate that Bell knew he was being recorded because he had been told so, twice. Thus, all three of the recordings conformed to the statute and were properly admitted.

c. Any Violation Was Harmless.

Even if this Court concludes that the trial court erred in admitting the recordings, any error was harmless. Admission of evidence in violation of the Privacy Act is not a constitutional violation. <u>Cunningham</u>, 93 Wn.2d at 831. Accordingly, reversal is unwarranted unless the admission of the evidence materially affected the outcome of the trial. <u>Id.</u> Because the evidence of Bell's March 15-16 offenses was overwhelming, any error in admitting the three recordings was harmless.

To prove the crime of felony violation of a court order as charged in Count 2, the State had to prove that a no-contact order existed on March 15, 2014, that Bell knew of the order, that he knowingly violated that order, and that either his conduct was an assault or that he had been twice convicted for violating the provisions of a court order. CP 106. The evidence established that there were two no-contact orders in place on March 15, 2014 that

1512-10 Bell COA

- 28 -

prohibited Bell from contact with Gerense. 8RP 906; Ex. 17, 18. Bell's signature on both orders established that he knew about them. 8RP 911. The officers' testimony that they arrested Bell inside Gerense's apartment demonstrates that Bell violated the orders. <u>See, e.g.</u>, 7RP 692. In addition to the stipulation that Bell had two previous VNCO convictions, 8RP 922, Gerense's 911 call established that Bell had assaulted her that day. 8RP 934. Given this evidence, any error in admitting the March 15 recordings was harmless.

Bell contends that the recordings were not harmless because the first two provided direct evidence that Bell was at Gerense's apartment on March 15 and depict Bell as "difficult and defiant." BOA at 32. But even if the recordings were inadmissible, nothing precluded the officers from testifying about what they each saw and heard. Lewis, 157 Wn.2d at 472; Courtney, 137 Wn. App. at 383. Here, the officers testified that Bell was in Gerense's apartment and described his demeanor as defiant, hostile, and verbally combative. 7RP 692-93; 8RP 817-18, 828, 834. Likewise, officers testified about Bell demanding a kiss from Gerense and offering them money to let him go. 7RP 693, 8RP 834. Since this evidence was admissible even if the recordings were not, Bell

- 29 -

cannot show that the recordings themselves materially affected the outcome of his trial.

Bell also argues that admitting the recordings was prejudicial because they allowed Detective Freutel to identify Bell's voice on the December 25, 2013 call to 911, where identity of the male voice was at issue.¹² Brief of Appellant at 34. But Detective Freutel also listened to Bell's jail calls and could have identified his voice from those. 8RP 942-43. Further, the jury would almost certainly have inferred that Bell was the person at Gerense's apartment, given her statement identifying that person as her child's father, Bell's stipulation that he is the father of Gerense's child,¹³ and his resemblance to the person seen running from her apartment. Given the evidence in this case, this Court should conclude that any Privacy Act violation was harmless.

¹² Identity was an issue only because the trial court suppressed part of the recording where Gerense identified him by name. <u>See</u> 3RP 96.

¹³ Bell argues that there was no evidence that Gerense had only one child with one man and could have been referring to another father of another child. Any such inference has no support in the record.

3. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT ADMITTED DETECTIVE FREUTEL'S OPINION THAT SHE RECOGNIZED BELL'S VOICE.

Bell contends that the trial court improperly permitted

Detective Freutel to give lay opinion testimony that it was Bell's voice on certain audio recordings because this opinion invaded the province of the jury. To the extent that any such error occurred and has been preserved,¹⁴ it was harmless given the overwhelming evidence of Bell's guilt. This Court should affirm.

¹⁴ Bell argues that he preserved the issue despite failing to make a contemporaneous objection because he had moved in limine to preclude police witnesses from giving their opinion on his guilt and to exclude officer testimony identifying Bell as the speaker in the jail calls. BOA at 39. He did not move to exclude officer testimony identifying Bell as the male voice on the December 911 call. A party may only assign error in the appellate court on the specific ground of the evidentiary objection made at trial. State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). Further, Detective Freutel's testimony that she recognized Bell's voice in the December 911 call was not an opinion on his guilt; it was evidence of one element of the charged offense that the jury was free to disbelieve. See State v. Hardy, 76 Wn. App. 188, 191, 884 P.2d 8 (1994) (officer's opinion of identity of man in videotape did not invade province of the jury, jury was free to reach its own conclusion about identity); Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d at 936 (admission of witness opinion testimony on an ultimate issue is not automatically reviewable as manifest constitutional error). If this Court concludes that the issue has not been preserved, it should decline to reach the merits under RAP 2.5(a). As explained below with respect to harmless error, any violation of ER 701 in this case had no probable effect on the outcome of the trial and was therefore not "manifest" error under RAP 2.5(a). The lack of prejudice renders Bell's argument that defense counsel was constitutionally ineffective for failing to object to the testimony similarly unavailing. See Strickland v. Washington; 466 U.S. 668, 697, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984) (if defendant fails to make a sufficient showing of either deficient performance or resulting prejudice in an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, reviewing court need not consider remaining prong).

A lay witness may give opinion testimony if it is rationally based on perception and helpful to a clear understanding of the evidence. ER 602, 701. A witness may not offer opinion testimony concerning the defendant's guilt, directly or by inference. State v. George, 150 Wn. App. 110, 117, 206 P.3d 697 (2009). The fact that an opinion supports a finding of guilt, however, does not make the opinion improper. City of Seattle v. Heatley, 70 Wn. App. 573, 579, 854 P.2d 658 (1993). "[I]t is the very fact that such opinions imply that the defendant is guilty which makes the evidence relevant and material." Id. (alteration in original) (quoting State v. Wilber, 55 Wn. App. 294, 298 n.1, 777 P.2d 36 (1989)). The trial court is accorded broad discretion to determine the admissibility of opinion testimony bearing on an ultimate issue, and this Court has "expressly declined to take an expansive view of claims that testimony constitutes an opinion on guilt." Heatley, 70 Wn. App. at 579. An abuse of discretion occurs only when a trial court's decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds. State v. Magers, 164 Wn.2d 174, 181, 189 P.3d 126 (2008).

In the context of photographs, a lay witness's opinion testimony as to the identity of a person is admissible if "there is

- 32 -

some basis for concluding that the witness is more likely to identify the defendant ... than is the jury." <u>State v. Hardy</u>, 76 Wn. App. 188, 190, 884 P.2d 8 (1994). No published Washington case addresses lay opinions as to voice recognition under ER 701. But because the federal version of the rule is identical, federal cases are instructive. <u>Hardy</u>, 76 Wn. App. at 190.

In <u>United States v. Bush</u>, 405 F.3d 909 (10th Cir. 2005), the court rejected a claim that Rule 701 precluded a detective from identifying the defendant's voice on a recording. The court observed that the rule governing lay opinion testimony has been liberally interpreted, with courts relying on juries to properly assess the weight of the opinion in light of the basis on which it is made:

When addressing the admissibility of lay identification testimony, courts have been liberal in determining the extent of perception required to satisfy the first requirement of Rule 701. Courts have likewise preferred to leave to juries any assessment of the weight to be given to such testimony when there exist questions regarding the quantity or quality of perception.

<u>Id.</u> at 915-16. This is as intended by the drafters of Rule 701. As the <u>Bush</u> court points out, the Advisory Committee Notes to Rule 701 emphasize that any inadequacies of the admitted opinion testimony can be highlighted through cross examination and

argument. <u>Id.</u> (citing Fed.R.Evid. 701, Notes of Advisory Committee on Proposed Rules). Accordingly, the detective's identification testimony was admissible, but Bush was "entitled to argue to the jury that the detective had inadequate contact with him and therefore was simply wrong in his identification, or that other evidence undermined the credibility of the detective's identification testimony." <u>Id.</u> at 917.

ave becade

In this case, Detective Freutel's opinion that Bell's was the male voice in the December 911 call was based upon her review of recordings where Bell was known to be the speaker, including the March 15 in-car video and the jail call made with Bell's personal identifier. 8RP 943-44. This satisfies ER 701's low bar that the witness's opinion be rationally based on her perception. See Bush, 405 F.3d at 918-19 ("Similar to Rule 701's requirement, voice identification testimony is permissible under Rule 901 where there exists any basis for identifying the voice, leaving all questions of weight and credibility for the jury.") (internal quotations and alteration omitted). While Bell was free to cross-examine Freutel on her familiarity with his voice,¹⁶ and to argue that she lacked an

¹⁵ Defense counsel elected not to engage in a lengthy cross-examination of Detective Freutel, asking only three questions. 8RP 945. All three of these questions went to Freutel's familiarity with Gerense's voice.

adequate basis to correctly identify his voice,¹⁶ it was for the jury to determine how much weight to give Freutel's opinion.

and Address and

Bell also contends that Detective Freutel's opinion was unhelpful to the jury and invaded the jury's province because it was based on audio recordings that the jury could evaluate for itself. In United States v. Cruz-Rea, 626 F.3d 929 (7th Cir. 2010), the court rejected the same argument. Id. at 935. There, a federal agent was permitted to identify the defendant's voice on 24 recordings based upon his review of a 15-second voice exemplar. "Although Rule 701 requires that testimony be 'helpful,' we have never held that testimony is unhelpful merely because a jury might have the same opinion as the testifying witness." Id. Rather, the detective had listened to the voice exemplar many times, making his opinion on identity helpful to the jury even though the jury could have listened to the same material and come to the same conclusion. Similarly here, Detective Freutel had the opportunity to listen to and compare the voices on the various recordings before they were redacted at trial. This presumably gave her a better basis on which to make the identification than the jury, which only heard the

¹⁶ Defense counsel's closing argument emphasized that Freutel had never spoken with Bell and would not know what Gerense sounded like on the phone. 9RP 1081.

redacted recordings during trial. The fact that the jury agreed with the detective's conclusion does not demonstrate that her opinion was unhelpful or inadmissible under ER 701.

In any event, any error in admitting Detective Freutel's opinion testimony is not grounds for reversal unless it prejudiced Bell's defense. <u>See State v. Howard</u>, 127 Wn. App. 862, 871, 113 P.3d 511 (2005). This Court applies the non-constitutional harmless error standard to violations of an evidentiary rule. <u>Id.</u> Under that rule, "error is not prejudicial unless, within reasonable probabilities, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected had the error not occurred." <u>Id.</u> (quoting <u>State v.</u> Bourgeois, 133 Wn.2d 389, 403, 945 P.2d 1120 (1997)).

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